IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

W. WARREN CALLICUTT

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-CA-00706

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES OF POTTS CAMP, INC., DIANE G. TAYLOR AND UNION PLANTERS BANK, N.A.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, W. WARREN CALLICUTT

THOMAS A. WICKER (MSB# HOLLAND, RAY, UPCHURCH & HILLEN, P.A. 322 JEFFERSON STREET POST OFFICE DRAWER 409 TUPELO, MS 39902-0409 TELEPHONE: (662) 842-1721

Attorney of Record for Appellant W. Warren Callicutt

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

W. WARREN CALLICUTT

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-CA-00706

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the lower Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Defendants, Diane G. Taylor and Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc.
- II. Whether the Court erred in finding that no issue of fact existed with regard to the duty owed by Diane Taylor and Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc., in connection with their preparation of the Exchange Agreement between Warren Callicutt and Union Planters Bank, N.A., for which they charged an attorney's fee in the amount of \$1,000.00.
- III. Whether the Court erred in finding, as a matter of law, that Warren Callicutt suffered no damages.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

W. WARREN CALLICUTT

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-CA-00706

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES OF POTTS CAMP, INC., DIANE G. TAYLOR AND UNION PLANTERS BANK, N.A.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a summary judgment entered in favor of the Defendants, Diane G. Taylor and Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc., by the Plaintiff, Warren Callicutt. Warren Callicutt had also sued Union Planters Bank, N.A., and initially noticed an appeal from the grant of summary judgment in favor of Union Planters Bank, N.A., but the parties, in the interim, stipulated to the dismissal of all claims pertaining to Union Planters Bank, N.A.

As will be addressed below, the issues presented in this appeal relate to Warren Callicutt's claim that Diane Taylor undertook to provide him with professional services of a legal nature, representing to him that she was competent to provide those services, and either negligently or intentionally breached the duties undertaken by her and her company, resulting in damage to the Plaintiff.

I. Nature of the Case

As stated above, this is an appeal from a grant of summary judgment. The lower Court found no genuine issues of material fact existed with regard to the claims made by the Plaintiff against Diane G. Taylor and her company, Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc. (Hereinafter, Diane Taylor and her wholly owned company, Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc., will be referred to collectively as "Taylor").

2

Warren Callicutt alleged that Diane Taylor provided him with advice and services in connection with a real estate transaction that involved a Like-Kind Exchange of real property for tax deferred treatment under regulations of the Internal Service. In his Complaint, Callicutt alleged that Diane Taylor misrepresented her qualifications and expertise in handling Like-Kind Exchanges, and further misrepresented the role of Union Planters Bank, N.A. as the "qualified intermediary" required for Like-Kind Exchange Agreements.

As a consequence of the negligent and/or intentional wrong doing of Taylor, Callicutt claimed that he was damaged because the exchange, as structured by Taylor, was fatally flawed, resulting in the loss of the benefit of tax deferment, and the imposition of taxes and penalties in excess of \$500,000.00 by the Internal Revenue Service.

The question presented to this Court is whether the lower Court erred in finding that there was no dispute as to certain material facts, which formed the basis for the Court's holding, as a matter of law, that Taylor owed no duty to Callicutt and that Callicutt suffered no damages.

II. Procedural History

On January 12, 2005, Warren Callicutt filed his Complaint against Taylor and Union Planters Bank, N.A. (R.E. 21-36, R-1) The Complaint alleged claims against Taylor and the Bank in connection with an attempted Like-Kind Exchange of real property for tax deferred treatment under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code.

On March 10, 2005, the Taylor Defendants filed their Answer denying the allegations of the Complaint. (R.E. 21-36, R-17) Depositions of the primary parties and witnesses were scheduled in April, 2005, and Taylor served her Answers to written interrogatories on April 14, 2005, immediately prior to those depositions. (R-17) In Answer to Interrogatory No. 22, Taylor

identified herself as the person who prepared the Exchange Agreement between Callicutt and Union Planters Trust Department. (R-904)

Although Taylor indicated that she neither referred to or utilized any other documents in connection with the preparation of the Exchange Agreement in Answer to Interrogatory No. 3, she clarified this position at her deposition, when she testified that she prepared the Exchange Agreement (R-728) based upon an e-mail attachment that she had on her computer from a previous closing. (R-79-80)

Following the initial round of depositions in April, 2005, Taylor moved for summary judgment. (R-165) Union Planters Bank also moved for summary judgment. (R-72)

Warren Callicut filed responses in opposition to both motions for summary judgment.(R-249, 264)

Following additional discovery which related to the duties of a Qualified Intermediary as they would relate to the claims against Union Planters Bank, N.A., the matter was scheduled for hearing on the motions for summary judgment on February 27, 2006. (See, Transcript of Proceedings, Volume 8 of 8 of the Record on Appeal, Transcript Pages 1-49). All parties had filed Briefs and Supplemental Briefs, as well as Affidavits in connection with the Motions for Summary Judgment and Responses in Opposition thereto. At the hearing, the parties, through counsel, presented oral argument concerning the issues, and then were invited by the Court to submit Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for the lower Court's consideration. (Hearing Transcript at Page 42).

On March 28, 2006, the lower Court signed, unedited, the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order granting Taylor's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R- 657-669) On April 25,

2006, Warren Callicutt served his Notice of Appeal of the Order Granting Summary Judgment, which Notice of Appeal was filed April 26, 2006. (R-816).

III. Statement of the Facts

Warren Callicutt is an owner in a farming enterprise, growing row crops such as soy beans, etc. He is also a Partner in an L.L.C., Callicutt Properties, which buys tracts of land and then improves the property, subdividing it and selling it off in residential lots. (R-36)

In January, 2003, Warren Callicutt contracted with Dudley Moore¹ to purchase approximately 954 acres for a purchase price of 2.6 million dollars. (R-40, R-448) Callicutt's initial intent when contracting to purchase this property was to develop and subdivide it and sell off lots. (R-42) However, before he closed on the sale, Callicutt learned that his neighbor was interested in purchasing the property and having it developed for residential lots, and was willing to pay 3.8 million dollars. (R-42, R-53)

In addition, Callicutt's neighbor, Mrs. Hurdle, was willing to enter into an agreement with Callicutt under which she would pay him to do the work necessary to develop the property (subdividing the tracts, putting in roads, etc.). (R-43, R-465) In short, Callicutt was presented with an opportunity to sell the 954 acres at a substantial profit, but would still be able to make money in his business of developing property. (R-43, R-53)

On February 21, 2003, Callicutt memorialized his agreement with Mary Ann Hurdle in a contract prepared by Callicutt (R-450), and on February 28, 2003, he closed on the purchase of the 954 acre tract. (R-453)

Subsequently, on March 5, 2003, Callicutt and Hurdle executed a second document reconfirming the agreement to resell the tract to Ms. Hurdle. (R-452)

Because of the large amount of profit that would be involved (1.2 million dollars) in the

¹ The actual seller was Moore's company, DMR Farms, LP.

sale to Mary Ann Hurdle, Warren Callicutt wanted to explore the possibility of deferring the income tax. He was not familiar with Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code – indeed, he'd never heard of the term "1031 Exchange). (R-44, R-49) However, he knew that people sold property and took the money from the sale and bought other properties. (Id.)

Warren Callicutt was familiar with Diane Taylor and her company from previous transactions. (R-50-51) Taylor's company, Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc., is in the business of closing real estate transactions. Prior to the closing with Ms. Hurdle, Callicutt went to Diane Taylor and met with her in her conference room and asked her how he could reinvest money from the sale of property to avoid income tax. (R-51) Diane Taylor told him that this could be accomplished with a "1031 Exchange", and began printing off information from her computer, and making copies from a book that she had on a shelf in her office, while at the same time explaining to Callicutt how the process worked. (R-51-52)

She told him that he would have to use a Qualified Intermediary and that she had done similar exchanges in the past with Union Planters Bank, and that she would call and check on it with the Bank and get back with him and let him know how much they'd charge. (R-51-52) Warren Callicutt made the mistake of believing Diane Taylor when she said that she was familiar "1031 Exchanges" and had worked before with Union Planters Bank to handle such transactions. Believing that the transaction could be handled by Taylor and the Bank, Warren Callicutt never sought any additional legal or accounting advice. (R-52, R-629-630)

After their initial conversation concerning the tax free exchange, Taylor called Callicutt and told him that she had talked with Union Planters and that they could handle the whole thing for a fee of \$2,000.00 and that she would have everything ready at the closing. (R-53) From that point forward, through the closing on April 10, 2003, Callicutt relied upon Diane Taylor and the

Bank to structure the transaction as a Section 1031 Exchange. (R-53-54) At the closing, Callicutt was presented with an Exchange Agreement that appointed Union Planters Bank, N.A., to act as the Qualified Intermediary and that called for him to escrow the 1.2 million dollar profit for reinvestment in Like-Kind property. (R-54- R-728)

The problem, which was not discovered until much later, was that 2.6 million dollars of the proceeds were used to pay off the indebtedness incurred when Callicutt first purchased the property from Dudley Moore. This was a problem because under the Internal Revenue Regulations payment of indebtedness is treated as income for purposes of determining whether or not the transaction qualifies as a Like-Kind Exchange. In other words, the payment of the indebtedness disqualified the transaction for tax deferred treatment under Section 1031, resulting in Callicutt having to come up with more than \$500,000.00 to pay taxes when he filed his return in 2004. (R-61-62)

For the transaction to have been properly structured so as to qualify for tax deferred treatment under Section 1031, the Exchange Agreement should have called for any indebtedness which was being paid off to be replaced with "Like-Kind" indebtedness. (R-59, R-736) Had this been done, no tax would have been due in 2004. (Indeed, as Warren and Andy Callicutt testified, the tax could have essentially been deferred indefinitely so long as the proceeds from the sale were invested in Like-Kind property and debt.)

The Exchange Agreement which called for reinvestment of only the 1.2 million dollar profit, and the HUD-1 closing statement that called for the 1.2 million dollars to be escrowed and the 2.6 million dollars in indebtedness to be paid off, were all prepared by Diane Taylor. Indeed, Diane Taylor charged \$1,000.00 as "attorney's fees" for preparing the Exchange Agreement.(R-787, Line 808)

To summarize Warren Callicutt's version of events, he knew nothing of 1031 Exchanges, but did know that it was possible to reinvest money following the sale of property so as to avoid taxes. He went to Diane Taylor, who he understood to have expertise in real estate transactions, and she told him about Section 1031 Exchanges, and explained that she had handled such exchanges before utilizing Union Planters Banks, N.A. as the escrow agent, or Qualified Intermediary. She told Warren Callicutt that Union Planters would serve as Qualified Intermediary for a fee of \$2,000.00, and that everything would be prepared and ready for him to sign at the closing. He relied on her expertise and the reputation of Union Planters Bank, N.A., in proceeding with the transaction. He was never advised by either Union Planters Bank or Diane Taylor to seek any additional legal or accounting advice.

It was not until 2004, when Callicutt was preparing to file his tax return that he learned that there was a problem with the exchange. (R-45) His tax preparer had questions about how to report the transaction, which caused Callicutt to check with an employee of Poplar Exchange, a company that specializes in Section 1031 Exchanges. The employee of Poplar Exchange alerted Callicutt to the problem with paying off indebtedness that was not replaced by Like-Kind indebtedness. (Id.) Ultimately, this led to a demand by Callicutt on both Union Planters Banks, N.A., and Taylor and the instant litigation.

Diane Taylor's version of events differs from that of Warren Callicutt. According to Taylor, Callicutt came to her and expressed some vague, undefined interest in Like-Kind Exchanges, and she simply printed off some information from the internet and copied some pages from a book that she had obtained at a seminar on the subject.(R-82, R-85) According to her version of events, the subject of actually pursuing a Section 1031 Exchange did not come up again until the date of the closing between Callicutt and Mary Ann Hurdle, on April 10, 2003.

(R-86)

Taylor maintained in her deposition testimony that after she had closed the transaction, and the parties had executed a HUD-1 closing statement without any reference to an escrow agent, Exchange Agreement, or the like, Warren Callicutt told her that he wanted to pursue a Section 1031 Exchange. (R-86) According to her testimony, that same morning of the closing, she collected the executed closing statements from the parties for destruction, prepared new closing statements, an Exchange Agreement, and contacted several banks to see whether or not they would serve as Qualified Intermediaries. In Taylor's version of events, the first time that her office ever had any communication with Union Planters Bank was following the closing of the transaction, when she was essentially restructuring the deal. (R-87-88) She testified that she had never dealt with Union Planters before, but that it was simply one of the area banks that agreed to serve as Qualified Intermediary, and that was acceptable to Callicutt. (Id.)

With regard to the Agreement that she prepared for a fee of \$1,000.00, she testified that it was merely a sample agreement that she presented to Callicutt, along with advice that he should obtain independent legal and accounting advice and have a "real contract" drawn up to substitute for the "sample" which she had prepared for \$1,000.00, containing Callicutt's name and signature line and that of Union Planters Bank. (R91-93)

Callicutt, in his deposition testimony, simply does not agree with this version of events. According to his testimony, Diane Taylor did not advise to seek independent legal and tax advice, and had the agreement prepared for him to sign, including the hand written amount to be escrowed for purposes of the Section 1031 Exchange. Diane Taylor denies that she or anyone in her office filled in the 1.2 million dollar amount in the Exchange Agreement. (R-91) (While Taylor denies this, both Warren and Andy Callicutt and the Bank employee who received the

Exchange Agreement on behalf of Union Planters Bank, all testified that the amount was already filed in.)(R-54, 59, 102, 711)

Setting aside for the moment the obvious problems with the credibility of believing Taylor's version of events on the morning on April 10, 2003, there is a genuine issue of fact material to Warren Callicutt's claim that he reasonably relied on Diane Taylor's representations that she was familiar with Section 1031 Exchanges, had handled such exchanges before, had worked with Union Planters Bank in handling such exchanges before, and was a professional who knew what she was doing.

If Warren Callicutt's version of events is to be believed by a jury, then that jury could determine that he had justifiably relied upon Diane Taylor. If Diane Taylor's version is believed, then a jury might find that his reliance was not reasonable.

The only other contested issue of fact, to the extent that it is even contested, relates to the issue of damages. The IRS Regulations state that, in order to qualify for treatment under Section 1031, it cannot be held "primarily for sale". The definition of what constitutes property held "primarily for sale" versus property held "primarily for investment", is one which focuses on the Seller's intent at the time of the transaction for which Like-Kind treatment is sought. If the property is held by the Seller in connection with the Seller's ordinary course of business, then it is treated as property held primarily for sale. If, on the other hand, the Seller's intent is not to hold the property for sale in connection with his business, but to hold it as an investment on which the Seller might realize a profit based solely on the inherent value of the property, then it can qualify for Like-Kind treatment.

The Defendants seize upon Warren Callicutt's initial intent at the time that he entered into his agreement with Dudley Moore to purchase the 954 acres. Warren Callicutt testified that

when he initially agreed with Dudley Moore to purchase the property, he intended to develop and subdivide the property for sale in connection with Callicutt Properties, L.L.C. However, before he even closed on the purchase from Dudley Moore, Callicutt changed his intent, because he had a purchaser for the property. (R-629-630) In other words, he bought the property in order to realize the gain from his investment of 2.6 million dollars, not from any improvements which he might make to the property in the ordinary course of his business as a residential land developer.

The undisputed facts bear this out. Warren Callicutt did not develop the property or otherwise improve it while he held it. Warren Callicutt is not a dealer in unimproved real property. He and his brother own a business in which they purchase property and then work with surveyors, contractors, and others to subdivide the property, grade it, install utilities and build roads and then sell lots. (R-43) This was not done with regard to the 954 acres purchased from Dudley Moore and then sold to Mary Ann Hurdle.

At the time of the sale to Ms. Hurdle, Callicutt's intent was to simply hold the property as an investment on which he knew he could realize a profit. The fact that he also agreed with Ms. Hurdle to develop the property for her is immaterial, because any money he would realize from that agreement would be in the ordinary course of business, and for which he would report taxable income.

Even if a jury were to find that Warren Callicutt's intent was to hold the property primarily for sale, it would not do away with the liability of Taylor, but would simply affect the amount of damages incurred. Warren Callicutt submits that he was damaged in the amount of the tax which he could have indefinitely deferred and in the lost opportunities described in his testimony relating to the requirement that he mortgage other property in order to raise the money to pay his taxes. (R-61) Even if a jury agrees with the Defendants that the property could never

have qualified for Like-Kind treatment, Callicutt would be entitled to the damages flowing from the bad advice and services received from Taylor, beginning with the \$1,000.00 fee which she charged, and extending to the interest and penalties he paid to the Government. Moreover, had he not relied on Taylor, or had she told him the transaction was not 1031 eligible, he could have delayed the sale of the property long enough to have avoided short-term capital gains taxes.

In summary, the facts as claimed by the Appellant, Callicutt, are that Taylor and her Company engaged in the unlicensed practice of law, misrepresented their knowledge and expertise regarding Section 1031 Exchanges and their relationship with Union Planters Bank as a Qualified Intermediary for such exchanges, substantially damaging Callicutt in the Process.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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