# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2006-CA-00706

W. WARREN CALLICUTT

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES OF POTTS CAMP, INC. AND DIANE G. TAYLOR

**DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# BRIEF OF APPELLEES PROFESSIONAL SERVICES OF POTTS CAMP, INC. AND DIANE G. TAYLOR

Laura C. Nettles (MSB No. LLOYD, GRAY & WHITEHEAD, P.C. 2501 20<sup>th</sup> Place South, Suite 300 Birmingham, Alabama 35223 Telephone: (205) 967-8822 Facsimile: (205) 967-2380

And

Peggy C. Jones (MSB No. JONES & SCHNELLER
Post Office Box 417
Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635
Telephone: (662) 252-3224
Facsimile: (662) 252-2858

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Callicutt's intention at the time he entered into the contract with Mr. Moore to purchase the property was to sell it. Callicutt entered into a contract with Ms. Hurdle to sell her the property before he had even closed on the purchase of the property from Mr. Moore. Those two transactions took place prior to any contract with Taylor concerning a §1031 exchange. Therefore, because of Callicutt's intent to sell the property at the time he purchased it, his sale of the property to Ms. Hurdle failed to qualify as a §1031 exchange before any action or inaction on the part of Taylor. Further, no damages complained of by Callicutt in the Complaint were proximately caused by Taylor.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

The standard of reviewing the granting or denying of summary judgment is the same standard as employed by the trial court under Rule 56(c). This Court conducts de novo reviews of orders granting or denying summary judgment and looks at all evidentiary matters before it – admissions and pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. The burden of showing that no genuine issue of fact exist lies with the moving party and the Court gives the benefit of every reasonable doubt against whom summary judgment is sought. The Court does not try issues. Rather, the Court only decides whether there are issues to be tried. Dailey v. Methodist Medical Center, 790 So. 2d 903, 906 (Miss.Ct.Civ.App. 2001), citing Cossitt v. Alfa Insurance Corp., 726 So. 2d 132, 136 (Miss. 1998).

# II. Callicutt Held Moore Property for Sale, Disqualifying it for §1031 Tax Deferment

Callicutt claims his attempted §1031 exchange of properties failed to qualify for tax deferment because Taylor did not advise him that he had to buy \$3.8 million dollars worth of new property - - not the \$1.2 million dollars worth that he actually bought for the exchange. He further claims damages resulting from the failure of the exchange because he was subsequently required to pay income taxes on his \$1.2 million profit. As a matter of fact and law, Callicutt is mistaken. The Moore Property which he sought to use in the exchange did not qualify for a \$1031 exchange and could never qualify for a \$1031 exchange because Callicutt, as the evidence shows, held the Moore Property for sale. Property held "primarily for sale" is specifically excluded from the benefits of \$1031 tax deferment. Accordingly, Callicutt has suffered no injury or damage attributable to any action or inaction of Taylor. The pertinent dates and transactions are as follows:

On January 21, 2003, Callicutt entered into a written contract with Dudley Moore to buy the Moore Property for \$2.6 million dollars. (R-448-449). Callicutt bought the property from Mr. Moore with the intention of subdividing and selling the property. (R-42-43 (pp. 31, 33-34)). On February 21, 2003, Callicutt entered into a written contract with Ms. Hurdle to sell the Moore Property to her for \$3.8 million dollars. (R-450-451).

On February 28, 2003, Callicutt closed the purchase of the Moore Property. (R-453-458). On March 5, 2003, Callicutt entered into another contract with Ms. Hurdle for the sale of the Moore Property for \$3.8 million. (R-452). On April 10, 2003, Callicutt closed the sale of the Moore Property to Ms. Hurdle, earning himself a profit of \$1.2 million dollars. (R-459-464)

Taylor was contacted by the Bank of Holly Springs who requested she and Professional Services of Potts Camp, Inc. perform title work for the closing of the purchase of the property by Ms. Hurdle and on behalf of Ms. Hurdle. (R-80-81 (pp. 25-26)).

Prior to April 10, 2003, Callicutt asked Taylor how to take the money from the sale of the real estate and reinvest it to avoid tax. (R-51 (p. 68)). Taylor advised Callicutt that the process was called a §1031 exchange and she provided him with some materials that she had concerning the process. Callicutt read those materials. (R-51 (p. 69), R-63 (p. 117)). Taylor did not tell Callicutt the amount of money he would need to invest in exchange property. (R-52 (pp.71-72)).

Shortly after April 10, 2003, Callicutt attempted a §1031 exchange, hoping to defer paying income taxes on the \$1.2 million dollars of profit he had just made. He went out and purchased two (2) lots which cost a total of \$1.2 million dollars. (R-45-46 (pp. 44-47)). This property was purchased at least three to four months after the April 10, 2003 closing. (R-56 (pp. 88-89)). Callicutt never consulted with Taylor regarding the replacement property he purchased subsequent to the sale to Ms. Hurdle. (R-55 (pp. 82-83)). He was later told by a third party that he had to purchase property worth \$3.8 million (the entire sales price of the

Moore Property) and NOT just the \$1.2 million in profit he had made in order to avoid taxes on the \$1.2 million of profit. (R-45 (pp. 42-43)). Since the "exchange" had to be accomplished within a certain time frame, it was too late to purchase additional property to qualify. Callicutt claims that he had to pay income taxes on the \$1.2 million and that this is all the fault of Taylor because Taylor failed to tell him that he had to expend \$3.8 million on the replacement property in order to qualify for a §1031 exchange.

The problem with Callicutt's claims is that even if he had purchased \$ 3.8 million dollars worth of replacement property, he still would not have qualified for a \$1031 exchange tax deferment and still would have owed income taxes on his profit. This is so because the law requires that both the "relinquished" property and the "acquired" property in a \$ 1031 exchange must qualify. Neither parcel can be "held for sale".

There is no question but that the Moore Property was "held for sale". Callicutt had a contract to sell the property to Ms. Hurdle before he had even closed on the Moore Property himself. Even if he had not, although there is no question that he did, at the time he purchased the Moore Property, his intention was always to sell it. (R-42-43 (p. 31, 33-34)).

Section 1031, in one form or another has been in the revenue code since its inception. It permits a taxpayer to hold property which appreciates in value and then swap it for another property of equal (now higher value) without incurring income tax liability, at the time. The primary purpose of the statute has been variously described. The intent was to provide a way for taxpayers to avoid what was usually a "paper gain." In other words, typically, a taxpayer has held the property in question for some length of time, during which it appreciates in value. (Eg., he bought it for \$10,000 and it is now worth \$50,000 due to appreciation over time.) The taxpayer then decides that he wants another piece of property, which is of equal value to his property at \$50,000. The \$40,000 gain on his property would ordinarily have to be reported as a

capital gain and tax paid on the amount of the gain, if the taxpayer "sold" the property, outright. If, instead, he exchanges his property for the new property, even-steven, so to speak, no gain is recognized and no tax is paid at the time of the exchange. If and when he ever sells the "new" property, he will have to pay taxes on the gain, using the original \$10,000 as his "basis." Of course, there are many variations on this theme, but the foregoing sets forth the most typical scenario. As stated by one court, §1031 was "...designed to avoid the imposition of a tax on those who do not 'cash in' their investments..." Starker v. United States, 602 F.2d 1341, 1352 (9th Cir. 1979). As others have pointed out, when such a trade is consummated, the owner of the property which has increased in value has no "cash" to pay taxes with. It is only after he eventually sells the property for cash that he has the money to pay Uncle Sam.

Section 1031 expressly provides that "property held primarily for sale" does not qualify for the benefits of § 1031. Section 1031(a)(1) states the general rule:

(a) Nonrecognition of gain or loss from exchanges solely in kind

#### (1) In general

No gain or loss shall be recognized on the exchange of property held for productive use in a trade or business or for investment if such property is exchanged solely for property of like kind which is to be held either for productive use in a trade or business or for investment.

Section 1031(a)(2) states exceptions to subsection (a)(1). It lists the situations when the taxpayer will <u>not</u> qualify for the benefits of  $\S1031(a)(1)$ . It states that: "this subsection shall <u>not</u> apply to any exchange of – (A) stock in trade or other <u>property held primarily for sale</u>..."

The owner of property held "primarily for sale" cannot use that property in a §1031 exchange and obtain the desired postponement of taxes. Thus, developers who hold property to subdivide and sell lots can not invoke §1031. See Land Dynamics v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, T.C. Memo. 1978-259, 1978 WL 2945 (U.S. Tax Court 1978).

To understand the distinction between holding property for "investment" versus holding it "primarily for sale", it is helpful to think of property that is held for investment as being property which is acquired by a taxpayer with the intent to hold it for "future appreciation" in value. Obviously, it is possible that a taxpayer could have both considerations in mind, but, if his primary intent is to sell the property, he can not invoke the benefits of a §1031 exchange.

Perhaps the seminal case on the issue that is currently before this court is Regals Realty Co. v. Comm., 127 F.2d 931 (2d Cir. 1942). In that case, the taxpayer (a corporation) had decided to sell a certain piece of real estate. When the stockholders were advised of the tax consequences of a sale (due to the increased value of the property over time), they decided that it would be too expensive to pay the income taxes. Later, the prospective purchaser offered to "trade" another piece of property (real estate) for the corporation's property in a tax-free exchange under what was then 26 U.S.C., §112(b) and is now §1031. The stockholders agreed to this, made the exchange and, one month later, decided to liquidate the corporation, sell the "new" property and make distribution of the proceeds to its stockholders. The Board of Tax Appeals found, as a fact, that the taxpayer did not intend for the new property "to be held...for investment." Instead, they intended to sell it. Affirming the decision of the Board of Tax Appeals, denying the taxpayer the benefits of a tax-free exchange, the Court stated, at 934: "... the taxpayer must still acquire the property (a) for investment or productive use, rather than (b) for inventory, sale, or similar purposes." (emphasis added).

Under §1031, both the "relinquished" (old) property and the "acquired" (new) property must meet the test. Neither can be "held primarily for sale." (See Subsection (a) (1), §1031, quoted above.)

In a tax court decision, affirmed on other grounds by the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the court found the fact that the taxpayer held certain property for a period of six years did not negate the finding that the property was held not for investment but for sale, precluding qualification under §1031. <u>Klarkowski v. C.I.R.</u>, T.C.Memo 1965-328, 1965 WL 1278 (Tax Ct. 1965); aff'd on other grounds, 385 F.2d 398 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1967).

The case law (cases cited on p. 14) concerning §1031 holds that the question of whether property is held primarily for sale is a question of the taxpayer's intent. Because a question of intent is normally a question for the trier of fact, Callicutt argues that this question should be submitted to the jury in this case. However, Callicutt has the burden of proof of every element of his claim including damages, and the undisputed facts, including Callicutt's own testimony, make it clear he cannot carry that burden. The evidence shows that Callicutt had entered into a contract to sell the Moore Property even before he acquired it. Also, Callicutt testified in his deposition that he intended to sell the property at the time he acquired it. His testimony is as follows:

- Q. When did you -- let me ask it this way: When you purchased Moore Farms, was it your intention to resell that property at the time that you purchased it?
- A. It -- it was not my intentions to resell it as a whole. It was my intention to resell it one piece at a time.

(R-42 (p.31)).

Q. And at the time that -- just so I'm clear -- at the time that you bought it from Mr. Moore, it was your intention to subdivide it and develop it yourself?

- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. How did you arrive at the purchase price? Well, first of all, let me ask you this: What did you sell it to Ms. Hurdle for? How much money?
- A. 3.8.
- Q. How did you arrive at that purchase price?
- A. I don't recall.

- Q. Well you bought it in February from Mr. Moore for 2.6?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. And you sold it to Ms. Hurdle or started talking to her about it in March. You don't recall what calculations or figures or anything you looked at to make that decision to offer it to her at 3.8?
- A. Not specifically. I mean, I knew what the place would generate in lot sales. And I knew what land values were and that's how I arrived at that number.

(R-42-43 (pp.33-34)).

Callicutt sought to create an issue of fact by filing an Affidavit on February 26, 2006 (R-629-630) asserting that it was not his intention to sell the property after Taylor filed a Supplemental Brief in Further Support of Summary Judgment on February 8, 2006 (R-436-443). However, one cannot create an issue of fact by contradicting one's own sworn testimony. The recent case of Coleman v. Smith, 914 So. 2d 807 (Miss. Ct. Civ. App. 2005), the Mississippi Court of Civil Appeals set forth the law in a similar situation:

"Although the Court must resolve all factual inferences in favor of the movant, the movant cannot manufacture a disputed material fact where none exists. Thus, the non-movant cannot defeat a motion for summary by submitting an affidavit which directly contradicts without explanation, his previous testimony." Foldes v. Hancock Bank, 554 So.2d 319, 321 (Miss. 1989), citing Russell v. Harrison, 736 F.2d, 283, 287 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989); Kennett-Murray Corp. v. Bone, 622 F.2d 887, 894 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1980)). "We simply cannot rely upon unsupported, conclusory allegation to defeat a motion for summary judgment where there is no issue of material fact." Jacox v. Circus-Circus Mississippi, Inc., 908 So.2d 181, 184 (¶.6) (Miss. Ct. Civ. App. 2005).

Id. at 813.

Thus Callicutt's Affidavit cannot be considered to create a fact issue.

Furthermore, Callicutt has not presented an issue for resolution by a jury in this civil action between private parties. The decision of a jury in this case between private parties would not affect whether the transaction would be accepted by U.S taxing authorities as qualifying for §1031 tax deferment. The precise issue before this Court is not what a jury might believe

Callicutt's intent was, it is whether or not U.S. taxing authorities would, on these facts, rule that the property qualified for §1031 tax deferment.

As a matter of tax law, the burden of proof is on the taxpayer to prove that he did not hold the property with the intent of selling it. (See cases cited below.) Given Callicutt's own testimony concerning his intent to sell, and his execution of agreements to sell the property even before acquiring it, it is clear that U.S. taxing authorities would hold that Callicutt could not carry the burden of proving that he was entitled to the benefits of §1031. See Land Dynamics v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, T.C. Memo 1978-259, 1978 WL 2945 (U.S. Tax Court 1978); Black v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 35 T.C. 90 (Tax Ct. 1960); Griffin v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 49 T.C. 253 (Tax. Ct. 1967); Wood v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 276 F.2d 586 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1960); Klarkowski v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, T.C. Memo 1965-328, 1965 W.L. 1278 (Tax Ct. 1965); Regals Realty Co. v. Commission of Internal Revenue, 127 F.2d 931 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1942).

It is also clear, it is a taxpayer's burden to establish his intent at the time he acquired the property. See Regals, 127 F.2d at 933-934, Bolker v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 760 F.2d 1039, 1043 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985). In this case, prior to purchasing the Moore Property on February 28, 2003, Callicutt had entered into a contract on February 21, 2003 to sell the same property to Ms. Hurdle. Callicutt's intent prior to February 28, 2003 is meaningless. His intent on February 28, 2003 is all that matters.

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